Case No: 80-827

Lower Court Case No: 91-1932-AF

IN THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

HARRY JONES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

FOR THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JAMES C. BANKS, ESQUIRE Special Assistant Public Defender 217 North Franklin Blvd. Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 681-1010

COURT-APPOINTED ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant was the Defendant in the trial court and will hereafter be referred to as "Appellant." Appellee will hereinafter be referred to as "State". The Record on Appeal is contained in 7 volumes. Volumes 1-6 will be referred to by use of the symbol "R" and volume 7, the trial transcript, will be referred to by the use of the symbol "RT". All references will include appropriate page number designations.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Harry Jones was charged, by grand jury indictment, with First Degree Murder, Robbery and Grand Theft of a Motor Vehicle. (R. 1-3).

Prior to trial the defense filed a motion to suppress evidence seized as a result of an unlawful search and seizure. (R. 87-90). On May 11, 1992 the Honorable John A. Rudd, Circuit Judge heard the suppression arguments. (R.941). At the suppression hearing, John Livings, a Lieutenant with the Leon County Sheriff's Department, testified he was the unit supervisor at the time of investigation of this case. (R.948). Early in the investigation of the case, Mr. Jones told detectives he had obtained the vehicle in which he had an accident from the Frenchtown area of Tallahassee. (R.949-950). Mr. Jones further stated he did not know the victim, Mr. Young. (R.950). Law enforcement later discovered both Appellant and the victim drove away from a liquor store in the victim's truck together prior to the accident. (R.950).

In a subsequent interview, Mr. Jones claimed he did not know the whereabouts of the owner of the vehicle and further refused to cooperate with law enforcement. (R.953). It was later determined the clothes Appellant was wearing at the time of the accident had been removed by hospital personnel, placed in a plastic bag, and put into the corner of the Mr. Jones' room. (R.954). Lieutenant Livings unilateraly made the decision to seize the clothes and directed Detective Wood to do so. (R.954). He then instructed

another detective to check with the hospital and see if the hospital personel had taken any cash or lottery tickets from the Mr. Jones. Invesitgator Livings later had those same items seized from the hospital. (R.956-957,960). Immediately after seizing the clothes, he posted a uniformed officer in the intensive care unit of the hospital where he could visually observe the Mr. Jones. (R.958). The parties stipulated that Detective Caughlin was the one who seized the lottery tickets and the money from security at the hospital. (R.962).

Mr. Jones moved to suppress any evidence obtained from the seizure of the clothes. Mr. Jones argued the seizure of his clothes, money, and lottery tickets was warrantless and void of exigent circumtances, and was a blatant violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. In denying the motion to suppress the trial court stated:

> "The court looks upon this situation more or less as the officer taking it into protective custody, much as they would a witness that they might feel needs to remain through an ongoing investigation. So, the court finds that his constitutional rights were not violated and the seizure was properly executed and the motion will be denied". (R.972).

This case proceeded to a trial before the Honorable John A. Rudd, Circuit Judge, retired on May 13-15, 1992. (R. 91-736). Following extensive deliberations by the jury, the trial resulted in a hung jury and a mistrial was declared. (Not contained in record). As a result, the case proceeded to a second trial on November 9, 1992 before the Honorable William L. Gary, Circuit Judge. (RT. 1).

The first witness called by the State in this second trial was Paul Fontaine. Mr. Fontaine testified he employed the Appellant, Harry Jones, at the Catfish Pad from late April through May of 1991 and paid him \$773.00 during that six week period. (RT.246-248). During the week prior to the homicide at issue, Mr. Fontaine revealed he loaned the Appellant \$50.00. (RT.248-249).

Christine Robbins testified she is a bank teller at the Second National Bank, Tallahassee, Florida. Further, Mrs. Robbins explained on May 31, 1991 at 5:54 p.m. the alleged victim, George Wilson Young, Jr. withdrew \$300.00 in cash from the bank. (RT.256-261).

Jessie O'Connor was called upon next. Mrs. O'Conner testified she and Mr. Young were romantically involved during the month of May 1991. (RT. 263-264). On May 31, 1991 she and Mr. Young went to dinner at the Golden East Restaurant and Mr. Young paid for the meal in cash. Mrs. O'Conner also explained Mr. Young later paid to fill her car up with gas. (RT.268-270).

The State then summoned Archie Hamilton. (RT. 274-275) Mr. Hamilton, an employee of the Market Street Liquors at the corner of the Truck Route and Highway 20 West, Tallahassee, Florida was a good friend of Mr. Young. (RT. 274-275). On June 1, 1991, Mr. Young came into his store and shortly thereafter, two black males also entered the store. (RT.275-276). One of the black males acted as if he was sick and Mr. Hamilton asked Mr. Jones to take the sick male to the bathroom. Mr. Jones male did so and then returned to the store. While Mr. Jones was in the store, Mr. Young purchased

a half pint of Gilbeys Gin and paid for it with money he pulled out of his pocket. (RT.276-278). As Mr. Young paid for his purchase, Mr. Jones was standing in a position where he could see all of the money Mr. Young had in his pocket. (RT. 279). A short while later, Mr. Jones and Mr. Young helped the first black male from the bathroom to the curb outside the store. At that time, Mr. Young agreed to give the two men a ride home. (RT. 279-281). Mr. Hamilton never saw Mr. Young again. (RT. 283).

Fain Searcy, the assistant manager of Market Square Liquors, also testified to Appellant's presence in the store. According to Searcy, on June 1, 1991, Mr. Jones came into the store and purchased a half pint of Seagrams Gin. (RT. 294-296). Mr. Jones later came back with Timothy Hollis, who was apparently drunk, and wanted to use the bathroom. At that point, Mr. Jones purchased another half pint of gin. (RT. 296-297). On the second occasion George Wilson Young, Jr., came into the store and also purchased a half pint of Gilbeys Gin which he paid for it out of a roll of money in his pocket. (RT. 297-299). Thereafter, Mr. Young helped Timothy Hollis out of the bathroom and agreed to give both Hollis and Mr. Jones a ride home. (RT. 299-301). Mrs. Searcy explained the three customers left the store between 6:45 and 7:00 p.m. (RT. 302).

Lum Wiggins, the manager of the Inland Service Store at the intersection of Pensacola Street and Capital Circle, testified as well to Mr. Jones visit to the Liquor store. Mr. Wiggins testified on June 1, 1991 he noticed Mr. Jones and Timothy Hollis crossing

the street from Burger King and heading toward the liquor store. (RT. 312-316). Mr. Wiggins further revealed he later noticed Mr. Jones, Mr. Young, and Timothy Hollis getting into Mr. Young's truck and leaving the liquor store around 7:00 p.m. (RT. 317-320).

Timothy Holis testified in May and June of 1991 he lived on Jackson Bluff Road with his mother, two brothers, and Harry Jones. (RT. 327-328). On June 1, 1991 he and Mr. Jones started drinking about noon. Mr. Hollis' last recollection was walking with Mr. Jones toward the store to buy some liquor. (RT. 329-330). He did not remember how he got home that day. (RT. 330).

Johnnie Mae Hollis testified next. Mrs. Hollis testified Mr. Jones stayed in her house and paid her \$25.00 a week in rent. (RT. 336-337). On the morning of June 1, 1991 Mr. Jones borrowed \$10.00 from her. (RT. 338). Mrs. Hollis also explained, later on that day Mr. Jones and a white man brought Timothy Hollis home in a red and white truck. After dropping off Timothy Hollis, Mr. Jones left. She was unaware whether he left with the white man or not. (RT. 338). Prior to leaving, however, Mr. Jones gave her back the \$10.00 he had borrowed. (RT. 339-340).

John Colson, a sales clerk with the Suwannee Swifty Convenience Store, testified between 7:30 and 8:00 on June 1, 1991 a white male and Mr. Jones came into his store and bought a six pack of beer and some chips. (RT. 344-353).

The State then called Florida Highway Patrol Officer Donald Ross to the stand. Mr. Ross testified on June 1, 1991, he responded to an accident on Meridian Road, 2/10 of a mile south of

Ox Bottom Road after receiving a call at 8:10 p.m. (RT. 353-354). He discovered a red and silver Ford Bronco with heavy crush damage to the right side and a black male lying on the pavement on the south side of the vehicle being attended by some other individuals. (RT. 354). The vehicle appeared to be traveling south. (RT. 354). He recovered two half pint bottles of gin from the truck. (RT. 355). He was later advised by hospital personnel the black male driving the vehicle was Harry Jones. (RT. 357-358). He also found blood inside the vehicle and blood on the driver. (RT. 358).

Leon County Deputy Sheriff David Frimmel testified on June 1, 1991, he was northbound on Meridian Road south of the Bannerman Road intersection when he observed a red and silver Ford Bronco II which was in front of him turn around and head in the opposite direction. (RT. 373-380). This occurred approximately 7:45 p.m. (RT. 380).

Robert L. Collins, Sr. testified he called 911 to report an accident on North Meridian Road about 1/2 mile past Bannerman Road. (RT. 384-392).

James Hudson, a communications officer with the Leon County Sheriff's Department, testified he received such a call on the 911 system reporting an accident on North Meridian Road just past Bannerman Road on the first day of June, 1991 at 8:08 p.m. (RT. 392-396).

Veronica Branton was one of several accident witnesses called to the stand. Ms. Branton testified she and several others came across the accident on North Meridian. According to Ms. Branton,

she observed several people take a black male out of a truck and lay him on the roadway. (RT. 396-400). The injured man removed from the truck was wearing a pair of dark blue jeans which looked wet to Ms. Branton. (RT. 402-403). On cross-examination, she revealed she never touched the person or the pants to determine whether or not they were in fact wet. (RT. 404-405).

William Hill, Jr. also drove up on the accident with Ms. Branton. Mr. Hill testified he helped take the man out of the wrecked Bronco and put him on the highway until an ambulance arrived. (RT. 406-407). In helping the person out of the vehicle he grabbed the man by the waist and his pants and, with the exception of the subject's blood, the pants appeared to be dry. (RT. 410-412).

In addition, Tony L. Williams helped remove the man from the vehicle. Mr. Willaims also recalled the injured man's pants were dry. (RT. 413-421).

The State next called Ruth Mills of the Horseshoe Plantation. Mrs. Mills stated on June 6, 1991, she, her son, and her grandson went fishing at Boat Pond. (RT. 426). While the three were fishing, they discovered a body in the pond and reported it to the property supervisor. (RT. 427-428). She further testified she had seen Mr. Jones fishing in the past at Huckabee Pond. Huckabee Pond is also located on the Horseshoe Plantation. (RT. 428-430).

Solomon Mills, the son of Ruth Mills, also testified he and his mother discovered a body in Boat Pond on June 6, 1991. (RT. 430-433). Further, Mr. Mills had seen Mr. Jones on the Plantation

fishing in different lakes in the past. (RT. 435).

Robert King was the property manager of Horseshoe Plantation. According to Mr. King, on June 6, 1991 he received a report of a body being found in Boat Pond. Mr. King later helped direct the deputy sheriff to the site. (RT. 440-442).

Sergeant William P. Gunter of the Leon County Sheriff's Department Crime Scene Identification Section, took the stand next. Sergeant Gunter introduced a number of pictures of the red Ford Bronco registered to the victim, George Wilson Young, Jr. In addition, Seregeant Gunter introduced several lotto tickets which were recovered from the same vehicle. (RT. 459-463). He further introduced two half-pint gin bottles and several other objects recovered from the same vehicle. (RT. 465-467). Sergeant Gunter explained he went to Boat Pond to visit the location where the body was discovered on June 6, 1991. Over the objections of Appellant, several photographs presenting the condition of the body as it was discovered on June 6, 1991 were introduced. (RT. 468-473). Mr. Jones' objection was adopted from the previous trial in this case and was argued on the grounds that the pictures were extremely inflammatory. (RT. 469-472, R. 298-343).

This witness also introduced photographs, again over the Appellant's objection, taken during the autopsy of George Wilson Young, Jr. on June 7, 1991. (RT. 480-482). Again Mr. Jones adopted the arguments made in the previous trial in this cause on the grounds the pictures were so gruesome and shocking their probative value and relevance was clearly outweighed by the prejudicial

effect to the Appellant. (RT. 481, R.298-343). Sergeant Gunter also introduced debris collected from the throat and lungs of the deceased. (RT. 484-488). Finally, over the Appellant's objections, Sergeant Gunter introduced \$168.00 in United States currency, three (3) lottery tickets, and Appellant's clothing all of which was collected at the Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center. (RT. 486-489). Sergeant Gunter explained he turned over Mr. Jones pants and shoes to Dr. Anderson, a botanist at Florida State University and Joe Scheuster, also known as Dr. Dirt, so they could study the soil samples contained thereon. (RT. 490).

The State next summoned the Leon County Deputy Sheriff case investigator, Michael Wood. (RT. 508-509). Over objections by Appellant, (RT. 496), Investigator Wood testified about a conversation he had with Appellant at the hospital. Appellant told Investigator Wood he did not obtain the Bronco from a white man, but instead obtained it from a black man in French Town. (RT. 512-515). Investigator Wood later went back to the hospital and seized Appellant's clothing which was located at the foot of the Appellant's bed in a bag. (RT. 518-519).

Investigator Woods also detailed the distances between several points in Leon County and the driving time between each of those several points. (RT. 522-533). According to Investigator Wood, the total driving time to drive the route described by the prosecutor was 52 minutes and 30 seconds. (RT. 529-531). Investigator Wood, however, did not allow for any additional time for Mr. Young and Mr. Jones to take Timmy Hollis out of the truck when they brought

him home or for other stops during his drive time calculations. (RT. 555-556).

Michael Halligan of the Leon County Sheriff's Department was then called to the stand. Officer Halligan testified on June 17, 1991, he was assigned to guard the Mr. Jones at the hospital. Officer Halligan testified when he went into the hospital to change the handcuffs on the Mr. Jones, Mr. Jones stated he did not kill that white man. Mr. Jones then stated that he got the truck from the Frenchtown area. (RT. 569-570). At the time Mr. Jones made these statements, the witness claimed he was unaware of their significance (RT. 571-572). Upon cross-examination, it was pointed out this witness in fact took a missing persons report on June 2, 1991 from the victim's son wherein he learned that the victim's truck was involved in an accident on Meridian Road. (RT. 572-573).

George Wayne Young, the son of the victim George Wilson Young, Jr., testified his father liked to play Lotto and other Florida lottery games. (RT. 581-583). He further testified it was not his father's habit to give his vehicle to strangers to drive. (RT. 586).

Eugene McCarthy, a special agent with the Florida Lottery Division of Security, also took the stand for the State. Mr. McCarthy testified State's exhibit #8 was a lottery ticket purchased at the Publix Store in Westwood Shopping Center in Tallahassee on May 4, 1991 at 8:35 p.m. In addition, State's exhibit #12, which consisted of the lottery tickets seized at the hospital, were purchased at the same time. (RT. 591-593).

Joe Scheuster was called as the first of three (3) experts by the state. Mr. Scheuster, a soil scientist employed by the Soil Conservation Service of the United States Department of Agriculture, testified as an expert witness in soil classification. (RT. 595-596). He was contacted by the Leon County Sheriff's Department to help locate a body based upon soil discovered on the pants or clothing of the suspect. (RT. 596). After examining soils removed from the defendant's shoes and pants, he was able to narrow the search area. (RT. 597). Mr. Scheuster subsequently went to the pond where the body was in fact recovered and compared the soil with material removed from Appellant's shoes and clothes. He found that the two samples were similar. (RT. 598-602).

The State then called upon the second expert witness, Dr. Loran C. Anderson. (RT. 612-614). Over a continuing objection from the defense, Dr. Anderson, a professor of biology at Florida State University and curator of the Herbarian, testified regarding several State's exhibits. According to Dr. Anderson, State's exhibit #16, which appeared to be a small twig removed from the left lung of the deceased, was a type of aquatic grass identical to a grass called Maiden Cane Hemitonon Panicum. This type of grass was found in Boat Pond in the northern part of Leon County. (RT. 615-617). He further stated State's exhibit #17, which was removed from the larynx of the deceased, was some sort of root material with soil and some dried multi-cellular filamentous algae attached to it. It too matched the sediment or mud found in the bottom of Boat Pond. (RT. 614-618). Accordingly, he deduced the victim had

drowned probably in shallow water where his face might have been up close to where the bottom-sediment could be drawn into the esophagus. (RT. 619).

Dr. Anderson also explained several other State's exhibits. These exhibits included the gray pants, black socks, and sneakers of Dr. Jones, as well as a shirt recovered from the vehicle of the deceased following the wreck. He discovered mud impacted around one of the eyelets of the shoe, on his socks, and the pants. (RT. 619-622). Microscopic examination of this mud revealed pine and oak pollen, common to the trees in North Florida which was also found in abundance around the pond. (RT. 621-622). Dr. Anderson concluded the person wearing those clothes made more than a casual entry into the water. (RT. 624).

Dr. John Mahoney took the stand as the last of the three experts for the State. Dr. Mahoney, a pathologist in private practice in Leon County and an associate medical examiner, testified he did an autopsy on George Wilson Young, Jr. on June 6, 1991. (R. 645-647). Dr. Mahoney found an acute fracture of the distal radial head, which is the long bone in the forearm closest In his opinion these results were to the thumb. (RT. 650). compatible with what he would opine as defensive injuries. (RT. 653). Dr. Mahoney further found fractures to several ribs which is more consistent with trauma than animal molestation. (RT. 654). Upon his internal examination he found a dead plant twig in the lungs and a very gritty fibrillar black material in the esophagus. (RT. 655). This discovery signified to him the victim was alive

when he was in the lake. (RT. 656). The doctor opined that the cause of death was freshwater drowning. (RT. 665).

On cross-examination, the Doctor testified he was not able to say if the victim was conscious at the time he drowned. In fact, it was very possible the victim was unconscious. (RT. 668). Finally, he explained if the person was unconscious and placed underwater he would not be aware of the fact that he was drowning. (RT. 669).

Inmate Kevin Prim was then called to the stand. Mr. Prim testified he previously resided with Harry Jones in the medical cell at the Leon County Jail along with Jay Watson. (RT. 675-676). While in the county jail, Mr. Jones told Mr. Prim he met some guy at a liquor store and observed this guy pull out some money to pay for a purchase. Mr. Prim stated, Mr. Jones convinced the guy into giving both Mr. Jones and a cousin a ride because his cousin was intoxicated at the time. After taking the cousin home, Mr.Jones and this guy went to Orchard Pond where a struggle ensued over Mr. Jones' attempt to take the guy's money. Mr. Prim explained Appellant even stated he broke the guy's arm and the struggle then proceeded into the water where Mr. Jones held him down until he stopped popping up. (Rt. 681-682). Mr. Prim also claimed Mr. Jones asked him his opinion on how several other stories sounded. (RT. 680).

A second inmate, Jay Watson, also testified. Mr. Watson stated he was housed in the same medical cell with the Mr. Jones and Mr. Prim. Mr. Watson testified he overheard Mr. Jones and

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