IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

NQN 10 1993

FOR SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

HARRY JONES,

Appellant,

v.

Case No.: 80,827

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

because any further legitimate expectation of privacy was only remotely compromised. Although the test[s] exceeded the private investigation of the non-governmental employee[s], any

"seizure" of [evidence] which [was] lost in the course of testing it [was] reasonable, balancing the nature and quality of an individual's fourth amendment rights against the importance of the governmental interest alleged to justify the intrusion. See Jacobsen, 104 S. Ct. at 1662-63.

State v. Gans, 454 So. 2d 655, 657 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). Accordingly, the subsequent seizure of soil from Jones's clothing and information from the lottery tickets was reasonable for fourth amendment purposes.

In any event, any error in admitting these items into and harmless. As Ruth Solomon Mills's evidence was testimony showed, Young's body was found independent of the seizure of these items (T 427, 433-34). Further, Jones's connection with Young was sufficiently established without the lottery tickets and money, through the testimony of various witnesses who saw Jones converse with Young at the liquor store; Young help Jones with his drunk friend; Young drive off in his truck with Jones and his drunk friend; Young and Jones drop off Jones's drunk friend at his residence; and Young and Jones together in a convenience store (T 279-84, 299-302, 317-19, 337-39, 346-49). because it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that any error in admitting these evidentiary items would not have affected the jury's verdict, any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING VARIOUS PHOTOGRAPHS INTO EVIDENCE.

It is well settled that the admission of photographic evidence is a matter within the broad discretion of the trial court, and that a trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal unless a clear showing of abuse is made. Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985). Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the photographs because they were relevant. See Henry v. State, 613 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1992); Burns v. State, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992); Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1342 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 164 (1991); Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 2910 (1991); Gore v. State, 475 So. 2d 1205, 1208 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1031 (1986).

Jones's argument concerning state exhibit 5E is enigmatic, as the trial court excluded this exhibit (T 471). As for exhibits 5A and 5G, their relevance is immediately apparent. Exhibit 5A shows the location of the victim's body from a distance; precisely, it places the Ruth and Solomon Mills's testimony in perspective, showing how the victim's body was floating among the grasses in the water (T 472). Exhibit 5G shows the victim floating in the water from a full side view; specifically, it shows that the

victim was found floating face down, with his shirt bunched up around the arms and upper torso because the buttons were missing (T 472-73, 662).

The relevance of exhibits 7A - 7F and 7J - 7P is also clear. The medical examiner's testimony was critical in helping the state to establish that Jones had beaten Young before drowning him. During this struggle, Jones apparently struck Young in the head and torso, ripped and tore Young's shirt causing the buttons down the front to disengage, and broke Young's left arm (T 649-51, 653-55). Further, the medical examiner testified that Young was alive when Jones drowned him, based on the items aspirated into Young's lungs during the drowning (T 656-59).

Exhibit 7A shows that victim lying on his back, and the medical examiners removing his unbuttoned shirt (T 662). Exhibit 7B shows a close up of the victim's shirt which had several tears (T 663). Exhibit 7C showed a close up of the tears in the left arm of the victim's shirt (T 663). Exhibit 7D shows the tears in the victim's shirt, which was resting on the victim's torso, and the missing buttons down the front of the shirt (T 663). Exhibit 7E shows a close up of the lower left portion of the victim's shirt where there were many tears (T 663). Exhibit 7F was a full shot of the victim's shirt, showing all the tears on the left side, with white paper underneath to highlight the tears, and showing

the absence of tears in the right side (T 663). Exhibits 7J, 7K, and 7L showed the acute break of the victim's left arm from different angles (T 663-64). Exhibit 7M was a close up of the broken arm, palm side up (T 664). Exhibit 7N shows the pronounced break of the victim's arm, palm side down (T 664). Exhibit 7O depicts the victim's unbroken right arm, palm side down (T 664). And Exhibit 7P depicts the victim's unbroken right arm, palm side up (T 664).

Predictably, Jones cites to Young v. State, 234 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1970), receded from on other grounds, State v. Retherford, 270 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 1972), cert. denied, 412 U.S. 953 (1973). This reliance is misplaced, however, because involved "Young the admission of45 highly prejudicial photographs of marginal relevance. " Haliburton, 561 So. 2d at 250-51 (emphasis added). See also Straight v. State, 397 So. 2d 903, 907 (Fla. 1981) ("[T]he pictures in the present case were not repetitive as in Young of greater relevance. . . They were few in number and included only a very few gruesome ones which were relevant to corroborate testimony as to how death was inflicted."). As in Haliburton, the photographs here were used to identify the victim and to illustrate the nature of the victim's wounds and the cause of death. See also Burns, 609 So. 2d at 600; Nixon, 572 So. 2d at 1342; Jackson v. State, 545 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1989); Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla.

1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989); Bush v. State, 461 So. 2d 936, 939 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1031 (1985). Further, these pictures were used to explain the condition of the body when first discovered. See Nixon, 572 So. 2d at 1342; Gore, 475 So. 2d at 1208.

Like the defendant in Nixon, Jones is correct that some the photographs were arguably gruesome. However, "[t]hose whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments." Henderson v. State, 463 So. 2d 196 (Fla. See also (T 481). This Court cannot presume that 1985). such photographs "will so inflame the jury that they will find the accused guilty in the absence of evidence of guilt. Rather, [this court should] presume that jurors are quided by logic and thus are aware that pictures of the murdered victims do not alone prove the guilt of the accused." at 196. Here, where the prosecution offered the photographs a legitimate purpose, and these evidentiary items clearly were relevant in proving the case against Jones, it cannot be said that the photographs were so shocking in nature as to outweigh their relevance. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting them.

If this Court determines otherwise, any error by the trial court on this point was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. There simply is no possibility that the admission of

these photographs affected the jury's verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The state presented the jury with much more telling evidence of Jones's guilt, namely, Jones's confession to Kevin Prim (T 681-83) and the statements of witnesses who had seen Jones with Young (T 279-84, 299-302, 317-19, 337-39, 346-49).

Issue III

WHETHER JONES'S DEATH SENTENCE, AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF WHICH WAS MURDER COMMITTED DURING THE COURSE OF A FELONY, VIOLATES THE EIGHT AMENDMENT PROSCRIPTION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Jones contends that "[t]he automatic application of the murder while committing a specified felony aggravating circumstance to a defendant whose first degree murder conviction rests on a felony murder theory fails to genuinely narrow the class of felony murderers eligible for the death penalty under the Eighth Amendment." In so arguing, Jones has failed to note that Brief at 41. he made no such argument below. Because Jones did not present this claim to the trial court, he failed to preserve it for appellate review, and this Court should deem it procedurally barred. Ventura v. State, 560 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 951 (1991); Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 103 L. Ed. 2d 944 (1989); Eutzy v. State, 458 So. 2d 755 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1045 (1985); Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).

In any event, assuming preservation, the "during the course of a felony" aggravating factor does not violate the proscription against cruel or unusual punishment. The United States Supreme Court implicitly has approved of the

felony element of the offense of felony murder as a valid aggravating circumstance in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). There, the Court held that Florida's capital sentencing scheme satisfied the deficiencies identified in Furman v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976). Cf. Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976) (death penalty upheld under Georgia statute which allowed similar duplication). The United States Supreme Court also has found no Eighth Amendment violation in using an element necessary to the conviction of first degree murder as an aggravating factor to support a death sentence. Lowenfeld v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988).

As noted in <u>Proffitt</u>, the "narrowing" process involves more than consideration of aggravating factors.

The system must be examined as a whole a whole. because it works as addition to aggravating factors, statute further guides and channels the sentencer's discretion by providing a requiring proceeding, bifurcated mitigating consideration of circumstances, explicitly directing the manner in which the jury must weigh the factors, sentencing mandating meaningful appellate review. of effect cumulative procedural safeguards assures that our statute's use of the underlying felony as an aggravating circumstance does not violate the principles of Furman.

State v. Middlebrooks, 840 S.W.2d 317, 348-49 (Tenn. 1992)
(Drowota, J., concurring & dissenting) (citations

omitted). Thus, a felony aggravating factor could be mitigated by a defendant's conduct, intent at the time of the murder, or mental state. See <u>Tison v. Arizona</u>, 481 U.S. 137 (1987); <u>Cabana v. Bullock</u>, 474 U.S. 376 (1986); <u>Enmund v. Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782 (1982).

Regardless of the eventual outcome of Middlebrooks, its holding affords Jones no relief for two reasons. First, the indictment charged Jones with premeditated murder (R 1), and the jury found Jones guilty as charged (R 786). Because the Middlebrooks court made clear its holding applied only "when the defendant is convicted of first-degree murder solely on the basis of felony murder," 840 S.W.2d at 346 (emphasis supplied), Middlebrooks is inapposite here. Second, the Middlebrooks court concluded that death was a valid sentence for felony murder when other aggravating factors were Here, the sentencing court's written order lists two other valid aggravating circumstances -- the murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious and cruel manner, and the murder was committed by one who had previous convictions for violent felonies (R 828-36).

The United States Supreme Court has granted certiorari in <u>Middlebrooks</u>. <u>See Tennessee v. Middlebrooks</u>, 123 L. Ed. 2d 466 (1993).

Issue IV

WHETHER THE INSTRUCTION ON THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

In Espinosa v. Florida, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992), the United States Supreme Court held that the heinous, atrocious cruel orinstruction given in that case was unconstitutionally vague. Based on Espinosa, Jones asks this Court "to find section 921.141(4)(h) Fla. Stat. [sic], as well as the [instant] instruction interpreting same . . . unconstitutionally vague and in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment." Initial Brief at 58. In so arguing, Jones has overlooked this Court's disposition of this issue in post-Espinosa cases in which the sentencing courts gave the identical instruction read to the jury in this case.

In <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert.</u> denied, 113 S. Ct. 1619 (1993), this Court rejected Preston's challenge that the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor was unconstitutionally vague:

Because of this Court's narrowing construction, the United States Supreme Court upheld the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, or cruel against a vagueness challenge in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 . . . (1976). Unlike the jury instruction in Espinosa v. Florida, . . . 120 L. Ed. 2d

854 (1992), the full instruction on heinous, atrocious or cruel now contained in Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, which is consistent with <u>Proffitt</u>, was given in Preston's case.

Id. at 410.

Similarly, in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993), this Court again rejected such a claim:

We also find no merit to Hall's contention that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator is unconstitutionally vague. In Espinosa v. Florida, . . . 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992), the United States Supreme Court declared our former instruction on this aggravator invalid. Hall's trial judge, however, gave his jury the new instruction as follows:

Six, the crime for which defendant is to the sentenced especially was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. Atrocious means outrageously wicked and that vile. Cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to, or even enjoyment of the suffering to others. The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious, or cruel is one accompanied additional acts that show that the crime was conscienceless pitiless and unnecessarily tortuous to the victim.

This instruction defines the terms sufficiently to save both the

instruction and the aggravator from vagueness challenges.

Id. at 478.

Under both Hall and Preston, the instruction given in this passes constitutional muster, because sufficiently defined the terms "heinous," "atrocious," and "cruel" and tracks the language of the June 1990 amendments to the standard jury instructions. See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) Penalty Proceedings -- Capital Cases 79-79a (1990).Jones's assertion that the United States Supreme rejected the "essentially identical" Mississippi instruction in Shell v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. 1 (1990), is bunk. There, the sentencing court offered the following limiting instruction to the jury: "'[T]he word heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil; atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile; and cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with indifference to, or even enjoyment of [,] the suffering of others.'" Id. at 2

We have previously rejected Hall's constitutional claims or claims very similar to them. E.g., Ragsdale v. State, 609 So. 2d 10 (Fla. 1992); Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, . . . 117 L. Ed. 2d 639 (1992); Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990), vacated on other grounds, . . . 120 L. Ed. 2d 892 (1992); Eutzy v. State, 541 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 1989).

Formerly, the instructions listed this aggravator as "especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel" without defining any of those terms.

(Marshall, J., concurring). As this Court will recognize immediately, the Shell instruction is not identical to the 1990 version of Florida's heinous, atrocious, or cruel jury instruction given in this case. Although the Shell limiting instruction purported to define the terms "heinous," "atrocious," and "cruel," it was constitutionally insufficient because its definitions were "'too vague to provide any guidance to the sentencer.'" Id. at 3 (citation omitted; emphasis in original). Compare Atwater v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S496 (Fla. Sept. 16, 1993); Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1992). The same thing cannot be said about the last sentence of Florida's instruction, which clearly limits the application of this aggravating factor to those crimes which are "conscienceless or pitiless and . . . unnecessarily tortuous to the victim." (T 998).

Nevertheless, if this Court to were determine otherwise, it is clear that any error committed by the sentencing court on this point was harmless. There is no reasonable possibility that the giving of the challenged instructions contributed to the jury's recommendation of death. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Under any definition of the terms, this aggravating factor was established beyond a reasonable doubt. Slawson v. State, 619 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1993); Thompson v. State, 619 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993). The evidence in this case shows

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